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PUBLIC MEETING
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
I call to order this meeting of the Election Assistance Commission.  Let’s all stand and say the Pledge of Allegiance.

***

[Chairwoman Christy McCormick led all present in the recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


I’ll now take the roll.  Thomas Hicks?

COMMISSIONER HICKS:



Present.

 CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Matthew Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Present.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Christy McCormick, I’m here.  I will now accept a motion to adopt the agenda for today’s meeting.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I move to accept the agenda for today’s meeting.

COMMISSIONER HICKS:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


All those in favor say aye, all those opposed nay.

[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
The agenda is adopted.  I’d like to welcome you all here to the public meeting of the Election Assistance Commission.  We have a number of important items on our agenda today and I am excited that we’re going to get some of the business done that’s been awaiting Commission action for quite some time.  So, thank you so much for coming.  I appreciate -- also I wanted to say, I appreciate all of the work of our staff who’s worked really overtime hours to get us to this point right now where we can do what we’re doing today.  And that’s much appreciated.  And I -- they’ve made a lot of sacrifices to get us what we need to do our business going forward.  


So, Vice-Chair Hicks, do you have any comments you’d like to make?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Not really.  I just wanted to say thank you again for your leadership and making sure that this meeting actually happened today, and to acknowledge my youngest daughter, who is in the audience today on spring break, Megan.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Welcome Megan.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

And again, just to -- I would be remiss not to just acknowledge that under your leadership and under Commissioner Masterson’s leadership, how we are moving forward with a number of items here today.  And I’ll just save my comments for later, as well.  All right, thanks.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Commissioner Hicks.  Commissioner Masterson, do you have any comments you need to make?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

No, no at this time, I’ll save them for when we get into the substance of the discussion today.  I appreciate it.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Commissioner.  I’ll now accept a motion for the adoption of the minutes from our February 24th, 2015, public meeting.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I move to approve the minutes from the February 24th meeting.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


All those in favor say aye, all those opposed nay.

[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


The minutes are adopted. 


I will now call on our Executive Director Alice Miller for an update on recent activities.

MS. MILLER:

Thank you Madam Chair.  Good morning, I’d like to join in the Commissioners in welcoming everybody here today, either physically or via live webcast.  Since the Commissioner’s last public meeting on February 24th there have been a significant amount of activity that I will report on today.


As was stated at the last minute, the request for appointments to both Standards Board and Board of Advisors was sent out in February.  The response has been close to one hundred percent for Standards Board and all but seven organizations from the Board of Advisors.  As of today, we have Standard Board representatives appointed from all jurisdictions, with the exception of America Samoa and Puerto Rico.  However, I have received confirmation that Puerto Rico has indicated that their representatives will be appointed shortly.  That being said, we are now confirmed with 105 out of 110 appointments for the Standards Board.  Guam submitted one representative.  They have an opportunity to submit another.  Commissioners are grateful to everyone who has responded and assisted with obtaining responses by reaching out to your colleagues and encouraging them to submit the names of the members of the Commission.  This has been a yeoman’s effort on behalf of staff, and everyone has been resourceful with responding.  I would like to recognize, in particular, the members of NASED, who played a significant role in reaching out to their colleagues to have the names of the appointees provided to us.  Thank you for your support and assistance with this effort.  


We do have a few more outstanding appointments for the Board of Advisors.  Those outstanding appointments on the Board of Advisors consist of the National Governor’s Association, two appointments need to be provided; United States Conference of Mayors, two positions; Speaker of the House, one position; House Minority Leader, one position; House Administration Chair, two positions; House Administration Ranking, two positions; and Senate Rules Administration Chair, two positions.  Other than that, everyone else has responded and we do have their appointments.


I would also like to announce that the Standards Board and Boards of Advisors will hold a joint meeting on April 28th and 29th in Williamsburg, Virginia, at the Williamsburg Inn, which is located in Colonial Williamsburg.  This will be the first meeting of the Boards in three years.  The “Save the Date” has been sent out to all the appointees, as well as follow-up information regarding travel and accommodations.  At the conclusion of the Boards’ meetings on the 29th, that’s early afternoon, the Commissioners will hold their next public meeting and receive reports from the Board, along with any other outstanding business.  So again, that’s Tuesday and Wednesday, April 28th and April 29th.  We look forward to a successful meeting.  If you have not already done so, please send your RSVP to the Standards Board to dsmith@eac.gov and Board of Advisors to bbenevides@eac.gov.  We absolutely must have your response by April 8th in order to process the needed information with respect to travel and accommodations.


One tally vote was received on March the 16th.  The Commissioners voted on the Designated Federal Officers for each of the Boards and the Technical Development Guidelines Commission.  The result was as follows: Chairwoman McCormick elected as DFO for the Standards Board, Vice-Chair Hicks elected as DFO for the Board of Advisors, and Commissioner Masterson elected as DFO for the Technical Guidelines Development Committee.  Congratulations on all of that.


EAC hosted a roundtable on March 19th the topic, “Priorities, Policy and Strategy; Next Steps for the EAC.”  We were fortunate to have the former co-chairs of the Presidential Commission on Election Administration, Bob Bauer and Ben Ginsberg, deliver opening remarks and recount some of the recommendations of the PCEA Commission as they highlighted a charge for the EAC.  Also in attendance were two former PCEA Commissioners, Chris Thomas, who is also the Director of Elections for Michigan State, and Tammy Patrick, currently, Democracy Project Senior Advisor for the Bipartisan Policy Commission.  Other roundtable participants included local officials, A.J. Cole, Registrar of Voters from James City County, Virginia; Michael Winn, Travis County Director of Elections; Bill Cowles, Supervisor of Elections Orange County Florida; Mary Brady from NIST, Voting Systems Program Director; Doug Lewis, the former Executive Director of the Election Center; Katie Owens Hubler with the National Conference of State Legislatures; the Honorable Wayne Williams, Colorado Secretary of State; Steve Trout from Clear Ballot; Lee Page from Paralyzed Veterans of America; Lawrence Norden, Democracy Program at the Brennan Center.  And of course, we had participation from all three of our Commissioners and a few staff members.  The roundtable was moderated by Merle King from Kennesaw State.  The discussion was divided into three segments beginning with opening remarks, and then we focused on the voting systems technology and concluded with a discussion on data collection and distribution. 


We are now in the process of reviewing and determining those things that are of a high priority and possible implementation from the many ideas that were discussed during the full day roundtable.  The roundtable is available on our website at eac.gov.  And I would also like to mention that during the roundtable the Chairwoman announced the establishment of the e-mail address listen@eac.gov.  Commissioners want to hear from you, want to know your concerns and your suggestions.  Please use that e-mail address to provide that information.


As you know, the agency has undergone a financial statement audit which is conducted through the Office of the Inspector General.  The auditors review the agency’s financial records and enter an opinion regarding the auditability of our financial status.  Last year EAC received a clean opinion, the highest opinion that can be achieved.  We did have a kick-off meeting on March 25th with the auditors for this year’s audit, which, as you know, is an independent auditing firm.  The audit will begin soon and will continue through the middle of November.  EAC’s financial records will be audited from the period beginning October 1, 2014, through September 30th, 2015, with a report from the auditors being due on November 15th.  We will work in conjunction with the Bureau of Public Debt, BPD, to provide the auditors with a list of all the items that are requested for review.  I will note that the EAC has not yet received the Provided by Client list, which is the BPC list, but once the BPC list is generated to the agency we will work very closely in conjunction with BPD to organize and provide the materials to the auditors.  We had a successful audit last year and we anticipate the same result for this year.


And just one final note, the position for the permanent Executive Director will be posted this week on our website and the application process will be available through usajobs.gov.  


That concludes my report.  I’m happy to respond to any questions.

CHAIR McCORMICK

Thank you Ms. Miller.  Does the Commission have any questions for Ms. Miller at this time?
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



If I could just...
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

...make a statement quickly, and that is, I wanted to thank you and the staff for the effort on the Standards Board/Board of Advisors meeting.  Getting a hundred forty plus people together, finding a site, booking the travel is a heroic effort and I know we are trying to do it quickly, as it’s one of our top priorities.  So I appreciate the work you and the staff have done to get that done.


And then, I just want to echo your sentiment that those who have been appointed to the Standards Board and Board of Advisors need to respond and book their travel as soon as possible so that we can have the highest possible participation.  Again, this is an area of focus that all three of us agree on is utilizing the Boards to their fullest extent, and so, having that participation is absolutely critical as we move forward, thank you.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


You’re welcome.  Commissioner Hicks, do you have anything to say?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

No I just want to echo Commissioner Masterson’s thank you.  So, I just wanted to thank you again for all your hard work in getting these meetings up to -- make sure they actually happen.  And, if there’s anything we can do, in terms of reaching out to additional people, you know, from my time in the House and working on the Hill, if there are phone numbers that I need to call to make sure that folks -- or see where people are in terms of appointing their members to the Board of Advisors, please let me know. 

MS. MILLER:

Thank you, we will do that.  And, I too want to extend tremendous thanks to the staff who has just been unyielding in giving up time and trying to pull all this together.  It has been, as I said, a yeomen’s effort and everyone has pitched in day, night, evening, no barriers just trying to get it done.  And we’re making great progress, so everyone deserves credit.  I think everyone in the agency deserves credit for that.  And we will look to see Commissioner Hicks, if there’s anything that we can get from you to get the Board of Advisors moving forward, as well, thank you.  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



One other...

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, I’m sorry, one other item because, I know you noted it at the end.  The Executive Director posting, which you said is going up this week, do you know how long the period for application is going to be? 

MS. MILLER:

I do, thank you for that.  The period for application will end on April 20th.  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
And, I will just echo, thank you so much for all the work by everyone on the staff, and also, thank you to NASED for their crucial work in tracking down appointees for our Standards Board.  It was a heroic effort on their part, as well, and I thank them for that.  So, any other questions?    


We will now move to new business before the Commission.  Our first order of business is discussion and possible adoption of the update to the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines, also known as VVSG 1.1.  As you may recall, at our last public meeting we were provided testimony on the proposed changes that allowed for another public comment period at the end of the meeting.  It’s safe to say this is one of the most vetted documents in Federal Government history. To present the final version to the Commission and discuss the proposed revisions in detail are Jessica Myers, Deputy Director of the Testing and Certification Program.  And I’ll ask Ms. Myers to go ahead and provide commentary to us.

MS. MYERS:

Okay, Chairwoman McCormick, Commissioner Hicks, Commissioner Masterson and Acting Executive Director Miller thank you for allowing me to testify today regarding the proposed revisions to the 2005 Voluntary Voting System Guidelines, or VVSG.   
The EAC adopted the 2005 VVSG in December of 2005 within the nine-month timeframe prescribed by HAVA.  The 2005 VVSG was introduced in 2007.  For a period of time, manufacturers could request to be tested to the 2002 VSS or the 2005 VVSG.  By December 2007 voting systems could no longer be approved for testing to the 2002 VSS, and the 2005 VVSG was fully implemented.


In the course of testing voting systems the Testing and Certification Program learned a great deal regarding the testability and clarity of the guidelines.  It is this practical experience that led to the decision to revise the 2005 VVSG.  The purpose of the revision was threefold: One, to clarify the guidelines to make them more testable; two, to enable the National Institute of Standards and Technology, or NIST, to create test suites for the proposed revisions; three, update portions of the guidelines that could be easily updated without dramatically altering the guidelines.  In essence, EAC wanted to improve the consistency and efficiency of the testing process in a short period of time.

To accomplish these goals the EAC worked with its partners at NIST to take portions of the next iteration of the VVSG and incorporate them into the 2005 VVSG.  Those sections of 2.0 selected for use in 1.1 represent areas EAC identified as being most in need of clarification and updating.  These items included: human factors requirements; security, specifically focused on VPAT -- or VVPAT, electronic records, cryptography, system security specifications and external interfaces; core requirements, including software workmanship, reliability, accuracy and humidity testing; incorporation of request for interpretations issued by its Testing and Certification division during campaigns on the 2005 VVSG; and two public comment periods on 1.1 for a combined review period of 250 days.  

In 2009, the first 120-day public comment period on VVSG opened, and it closed in September of 2009.  EAC received 244 comments during this period.  EAC and NIST worked together to determine which comments would be accepted and which would not.  78 comments were not accepted, 159 comments were either accepted or partially accepted, and changed in 1.1.  Seven comments were grouped into five policy decisions, which were presented to Commissioners Bresso, Davidson and Hillman on September 21st, 2010.  
After the comment period in 2009 the EAC’s Testing and Certification Program discovered additional best practices, experienced anomalies and deficiencies with voting systems entering the Testing and Certification Program and clarified many ambiguities with the standard through the Request for Interpretation, or the RFI process.  Changes were made after the 2009 120 day public comment period to address these issues.  After the 2009 public comment, changes were made to the following areas:  
Telecommunications, removal of all references to the NSRL, software validation, access control, quality assurance and configuration management, coding conventions, idiographic languages, audit and election logging, and incorporating all relevant Requests for Interpretation.

The second 130 day public comment period on 1.1 opened on September 6th, 2012, and closed January 14th, 2013.  EAC received 706 comments during this period.  EAC reviewed the comments and divided them into four categories; accept, not accepted, comments on not highlighted sections, and comments for discussion with NIST.  After initial sorting, EAC met with NIST to resolve the comments that needed discussion.  After this meeting, EAC made final determinations on all the comments and began revising 1.1.  EAC accepted or partially accepted 170 comments.  169 comments were not accepted.  367 comments were on sections of 1.1 that were not highlighted and not open for comment based on the Federal Register notice for the second comment period.

After the 2012 public comment, changes were made throughout the document, including: definitions added to the glossary; the addition of an Appendix D on reliability to Volume II; updated references and links throughout the document; clarifications of specific hardware, software, accessibility and security requirements; correction of the numbering scheme; cleanup of grammatical errors; and just general formatting cleanup.


VVSG 1.1 and a spreadsheet on how each individual comment from the second public comment period will be posted on the EAC website after Commissioner approval.


EAC staff were requested to consider an implementation plan at the last public meeting.  EAC recommends that after Commissioner approval, VVSG 1.1 is immediately available for testing and certifying voting systems.  Additionally, within the next six months the Commissioners, after speaking with stakeholders, can identify the timeline for transitioning fully from the 2005 VVSG to VVSG 1.1.  
Also, EAC staff recommends that modifications to systems certified to the 2005 VVSG can still be submitted for testing and certification to the 2005 VVSG after the transition to 1.1.  


Chairwoman McCormick, Commissioner Hicks and Commissioner Masterson, the EAC staff recommends that the Commissioners vote to adopt the Voluntary Voting Systems Guidelines 1.1 and the proposed implementation plan as presented today. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Ms. Myers.  Also, here today is Mary Brady from the National Institute for Standards and Technology.  I believe Mary is the division head for the voting program over at NIST.  Welcome Ms. Brady.  Do you have comments for us today?

MS. BRADY:

Thank you Chairwoman McCormick, Commissioner Hicks, Commissioner Masterson and Acting Executive Director Alice Miller for inviting me today to participate in the public meeting.

As you’re aware, NIST has embarked on a couple efforts aimed at improving the standards development and testing processes for the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines.  We’ve made progress on a couple of fronts.  On one front, we’ve served as the chair of the IEEE/VSSC, whose intended purpose is to work on election modeling and on data formats, common data formats.  And on another front, we’ve worked closely with the NASED subcommittee to develop high-level principles that capture the essential characteristics of the VVSG.  We’re hopeful that restating the core principles of the VVSG in a manner that’s easily reviewable will lead to meaningful discussions with state and local election officials, advocacy groups and the broader voting community regarding fundamental requirements for voting systems.  These principles, although very useful for sparking discussion and reaching a high-level agreement, do not provide enough information for manufacturers to build voting systems and for the Voting System Test Laboratories to test uniformly.

The VVSG provides additional detail and consists of hundreds of requirements that must be implemented by manufacturers who build voting systems to help ensure that these systems are accurate, secure, usable and accessible.  Further, the EAC certifies that these systems properly implement the VVSG through their Testing and Certification Program.  This certification is accomplished via Voting System Test Laboratories who test each manufacturer’s voting system to determine whether or not the voting system correctly implements every one of the requirements in the VVSG.  At the conclusion of testing, the VSTL issues a report to the EAC detailing the results of the testing and a recommendation as to whether or not to certify the system under test.  As we’ve heard previously, the VVSG and associated EAC Testing and Certification Program has led to significantly improved systems and is used in some way by almost all of the states.  

However, despite significant advances over the last decade challenges still remain.  The VVSG itself harbors, just like any other English language specification, ambiguities that arise primarily from requirements needing greater clarity and specificity.  As a result, key users of the standards, manufacturers, test labs and election officials sometimes interpret the VVSG in different ways.  In order for the manufacturers to build the systems, and the VSTLs and the EAC to test and certify them, they need to be able to break down each and every requirement into unambiguous, specific and testable conditions.  Despite everyone’s best efforts, the absence of a unifying approach leads to inter-laboratory inconsistency and questions of completeness in the testing process.  

So, let me give you a couple of examples of where this might happen.  So, it can be in very detailed areas, such as maybe a buffer overflow.  And, you know, one wonders how exactly does a buffer -- what is a buffer overflow and how exactly can it happen.  Essentially, you’re writing outside the bounds of a particular buffer that’s in memory.  So this -- to understand this you need to understand the -- what happens between programming languages and operating systems, and you need to understand very low level detail.  So sometimes it’s at a level like that, as in buffer overflow, or maybe in memory management, where older programming languages, you had to manage the memory by yourself.  In modern programming languages you don’t necessarily have to do that.  So, if you’re a manufacturer, you know, you’re a little confused as to, you know, do you need to meet this requirement or not.  

It can happen in areas that are much easier to understand, like, for instance, in scrolling.  And there’s a requirement that indicates that voting machines with electronic image displays shall not require page scrolling by the voter.  So, one manufacturer might think, okay, well that means I can’t -- you know, I can’t provide any scrolling, so maybe, you know, newer implementations on tablets, where you might scroll by using your finger wouldn’t be applicable.  But, if you have a very careful reading of that requirement, it says that it shall not require page scrolling, so it might be okay to go ahead and put buttons, you know, navigation buttons at the edge of the screen, but also, enable scrolling.  So, you can see that there are many ways in which this might happen. 

So, the way to handle this is to look at each one of these requirements, have ongoing discussions among the manufacturers and the testing labs, the EAC and NIST, to determine what exactly do we mean by these requirements, considering today’s technology and how it might be implemented.  So, the development and the promulgation of these test assertions is the best way to achieve uniformity, while allowing test laboratories to continue to develop proprietary test suites.  These assertions and conditions must be tested to determine conformance to specific requirements.  And the goal is to eventually cover the entire VVSG.


So, in response to these needs, we’re currently leading a project to develop the assertions for the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines.  The information provided by the test labs suggested the need to augment testing for usability, accessibility and security of voting systems.  So that gave us our first approach, was to start with usability and accessibility, and then, to move onto security.  So, the initial set of assertions aimed at usability and accessibility were developed for each requirement within the VVSG, where we wrote down the higher level requirements into discrete and testable conditions.  And the goal, of course, is to make clear to the testing laboratories and manufacturers of voting systems exactly what conditions each of the requirements in the VVSG need to be tested in order to be certified by the EAC.  Different testing laboratories using this set of assertions should arrive at the same pass/fail results for each requirement of the VVSG, and this will help ensure uniformity among the test labs.  
The assertions are, first of all, by NIST.  We meet among ourselves, bring in the experts from -- for each particular area, come up with the test assertions.  The current effort has been aimed at VVSG 1.0.  If the requirements were general, vague or ambiguous, we examined the portion of the VVSG 1.0 requirement, any discussion that came along with it, the equivalent VVSG 1.1 requirement and any applicable portion of the VVSG 1.1 test suite for further guidance.  If the material directly and significantly clarified a 1.0 requirement, then it resulted in a new mandatory assertion, a shall-based assertion.  If the material indirectly clarified a requirement, then it was examined for possible inclusion and was put forth as an optional should–based assertion.  The assertions are then distributed to the EAC and to the VSTLs.  After discussion with all the laboratories, when consensus is reached, the resulting test assertions were distributed to manufacturers and to key members of the community.  The feedback is taken into consideration and the final version of the test assertions were made available on the NIST website at vote.nist.gov.  


So, as far as status goes, all of the requirements from VVSG 1.0 Chapter 3 “Usability and Accessibility” and the VVPAT related requirements were mapped to assertions, which were reviewed by labs, manufacturers and other experts and then posted on the web.  This entailed the processing of 19 sections generating nearly 550 assertions; 204 for usability, 287 for accessibility, and 55 for VVPAT.  
This year the work expanded into Chapter 7, “Security,” where the assertions development team has completed over 280 assertions for eight sections and has drafted 109 more assertions for another nine sections.  Altogether, these represent a total of nearly 950 assertions developed to date.  They are all subject to uniform development and review process which involves the original development of the NIST consensus assertion baselines review and integration with the EAC, labs, manufacturers and experts with final assertions being posted to the Website.

So, we look forward to continued feedback from these valuable partners and expect to finish Chapter 7 assertions by the end of the fiscal year.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thanks for your testimony Ms. Brady.  Do the Commissioners have any questions for Ms. Myers or Ms. Brady at this time?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Sure, can you -- Ms. Myers, can you explain what the implementation plan would be for the -- once these are approved here today?

MS. MYERS:

Yeah, so after -- if they are approved today, they would be available immediately for any manufacturer wishing to test to 1.1.  And we can make that available immediately.


Then, over the course of the next six months we would hope that the Commissioners would have an opportunity to speak to stakeholders, specifically manufacturers and test labs, but also, other interested parties, states, state certification people, some counties, to find out their feedback about the transition period that they would feel would be best for moving from 2005 to 1.1, to give you all an opportunity to consider, because we, as staff members, have heard a number of issues, but it may give you an opportunity to consider from hearing from those stakeholders.


After sometime within that six month period you would make an announcement of the transition plan after getting feedback from those stakeholders and we would transition fully to 1.1, so 1.1 would be the main standard that systems were being tested to.

That said, 2005 certified -- we would recommend that 2005 fully certified systems would still be able to bring in modifications that were tested to the 2005 VVSG, even after full transition to 1.1. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Any other questions?  

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



If there’s a second round, I might have additional questions.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Okay.  Commissioner Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

First of all, thank you both for your testimony and your hard work, particularly Ms. Myers, on getting the standard ready.  I know from experience that this started quite some time ago and the constant upkeep and ability to move this process forward is appreciated.  And also, for your team at NIST, Ms. Brady, I know that this has been a long time coming and a lot of work, and so, I appreciate all of that.


Ms. Myers, I’m going to start with you on a couple of questions.  And the first is, you know, I’ve gone through the document.  I’ve looked at the improvements.  But, can you speak, how does this improve elections?  How does this impact the states and locals and their equipment out there, particularly given where the state of election technology is out in the states and localities?
MS. MYERS:
I think it enables other -- there have been comments about that we need to go further.  And I don’t disagree I think we have time to look at doing that in the next standard.  But this gets us part of the way there into the systems that are currently being introduced and some of the innovations that are being brought in by manufacturers, and that we’re getting requests for from states and counties.  I also think it answers some of the community’s concerns about accessibility and usability, as well as security.  
Again, there’s still work to be done there, but at least we’re taking steps towards addressing that.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

This is a question for both of you, actually, on that, it segues nicely, and that is, in the usability and accessibility section, in looking through the revisions, there’s quite a few revisions to the accessibility requirements in the document.  And then, Ms. Brady, you mentioned that the area you started in for the development of the test suites was in the usability and accessibility realm, and I know there’s been challenges for the labs in interpreting those standards and consistently testing them effectively.  Can you both talk about the improvements that were made to those sections, and the test suite development and the success of that work, given sometimes the nebulous nature of those requirements?

MS. MYERS:

I can speak to the changes that were made from 1.1, and then, I’ll defer to Mary on the test assertions.  But, for 1.1, one of the original
 -- initial reasons that we wanted to incorporate some of the sections from the next iteration, or the 2.0 VVSG, was to incorporate some of the usability and accessibility requirements to strengthen that part of our program.  We received -- not only in the TGDC recommendations, which were the initial changes and items that were incorporated into 1.1, we received a lot of comments from various stakeholders, from all parts of the elections community, about sections and made updates to electronic visual displays, tried to incorporate plain language requests more often, add some more consideration for cognitive disabilities, which was somewhat overlooked in the 2005 VVSG.  We tried to address some issues with audio volume and ballot review without assistance.  And also, in both 1.1, and as you’ll hear, our manuals are trying to address some of the issues with some of the usability test reports that we receive from manufacturers.  

So, those were all changes that were either incorporated from the next iteration, or incorporated from comments from the 250 days of public comment period.  And I’ll defer to Mary on the test assertions.

MS. BRADY:

I think we can tell just, you know, by looking at the timeline for how long it’s taken to develop usability and accessibility test assertions.  So, it took us the better part of a year working directly with the labs and ultimately we ended up with 550 test assertions.  Now, some of these, you know, are likely very clear, and the labs, you know, got them right away, right?  But the vast majority of them, they didn’t.  So there was a lot of confusion of how do you actually test a system for usability, and how do you, you know, test a system, you know, with respect to accessibility.  And there’s been a fair amount of discussion on, do you need to have experts in the room, you know, what -- should you have human factors experts in the room, or should the labs go out and hire human factors experts.  And I think by going through this process it became clear to the labs, you know, what exactly they had to do, and what they could do given their current staff, what could be done, you know, and when they should go out and seek, you know, additional expertise.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

So, it seems as though the combination of the improvements from 1.1 in the test assertions are going to result in better, more effective testing, right, of those requirements, which I know has been an area of struggle.  And certainly, a critical area of our program is making sure that the systems are usable and accessible, so I appreciate the work in that area.  


Ms. Myers, on the VVSG 1.1, and I know we touched on this at the last meeting, but it’s important I think to briefly touch on it again, can you briefly walk through why this was important to get done?  Why is it that we needed to take these updated requirements and put them into VVSG 2005, and improve the standard in that way?

MS. MYERS:

Yeah, we, over the years, at least that I have been part of this program, we have identified areas that maybe we weren’t getting the testing that we thought we should be getting.  And so, I know some of the initial goal of incorporating, particularly, the usability and security sections of the next iteration into what would become 1.1 were to expand on the testing that we were already conducting and try to make it stronger.  I can also say that with the two public comment periods and a lot of the RFIs from our program, and to be honest, with a lot of the work from the test assertion group, we’ve been able to identify even more gaps.  And so, I’d say that although the initial decision to update 1.1 was very important in incorporating the security and accessibility requirements, the ongoing work on it has really, I think made it that much more valuable, because although there’s been a downside to having these outstanding, and to work on them for the last four years, it has enabled us to continue making revisions and continue strengthening things, as we learn what’s missing from the test assertions group, as we hear more from the community.  And so, I think, overall it will make the systems that we’re putting out and the testing that we’re doing better.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Ms. Brady, can you speak very briefly, same kind of question, what benefit does having the test assertions have, practically, for the program?  You know, is it efficiency, cost savings all of that?  What’s the benefit of having these test assertions, and are the labs using them currently?

MS. BRADY:

So, the benefit is further clarification on top of the VVSG itself, as Ms. Myers has indicated, there have been a number of changes in areas that where we’ve -- where there’s been feedback, where there hasn’t been, maybe, enough testing to do.  The further clarification -- you know, it’s amazing when you get a group of people together, you know, how you see different points of view, depending on where that person is coming from.  And you would think, just on a general reading of the VVSG that it’s clear, and it’s very straightforward, but it’s not, until you sit down to implement it, that you – or you sit down to test it, that you realize that there may be ambiguous statements within the VVSG.  So, I think the work on the test assertions has improved.  Do I -- are the test labs using them?  The test labs are certainly part of the process.  Do they comment on the test assertions?  I would anticipate that they are incorporating them into their processes.


An added benefit is not only are we working together with the test labs, with the EAC, and with, you know, various members of the community, but we also provide these assertions to the manufacturers.  So, in some ways, we’re -- you know, I’ve often said that we’re giving you the questions that are on the test, that the manufacturers know what’s expected of them, they know how they’re going to be tested.  Now granted, they don’t know the answers, but they know how they’re going to be tested and, hopefully, that will provide them with the ability to bring a product in that is ready for testing, which, you know, in the end, will lower the cost of testing.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, it sounds like the manufacturers would have no excuse not to understand how they’re going to be tested, and get through testing, then, that way.  I hope that’s the case.


I don’t have any further questions.  I will say to you, Ms. Myers, I appreciate your work.  I hope you savor this for today, so that we can start on the next set of standards tomorrow.  

[Laughter]

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



So, thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
I have a few questions myself.  Ms. Myers, what definitions have changed in the VVSG 1.1?

MS. MYERS:

We added a definition for black box and white box testing because of some updates that came from the security requirements.  And we had multiple requests for a definition for marginal marks.  So, we worked with NIST to identify -- we had some previous definitions, NIST had used some definitions, there were other academics that had some definitions, so we worked with all of those groups to come up with one definition that we would add to this, since there were six or seven people that requested it.  So, I would say that that was the most significant change in terms of definitions.


We also had to remove a number of definitions, because they weren’t actually in 1.1.  And so, we’ve cleaned up -- it’s enabled us to clean that up and try to start standardizing the language that at least we’re using and NIST is using.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Do you have anything to add to that Ms. Brady?
MS. BRADY:

No, I think the white box and the black box testing was fairly straightforward.  We did go back and forth on the marginal marks, you know, for a couple of iterations anyway.  And I think one of the concerns with the marginal marks -- or not one of the concerns, but for the marginal mark definitions in the end it’s as the manufacturer, you know, determines what a marginal mark is, and we wanted that to be clear.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Okay.  Can you tell me what the most commented on sections were of the updated version?

MS.  MYERS:

Yeah, the most commented on section was actually the usability, accessibility and privacy requirements, and then, followed on by the security section, which somewhat makes sense because those were the changes that we had incorporated from the 2007.  But it also made me happy, as the person going through to resolve the comments, that we got so much feedback from, not just election officials, but people that I know we had worked with through the EAC -- through EAC accessibility grants, who actually went through and reviewed the comments.  And a lot of those comments, particularly on accessibility and usability section, were accepted and I think have helped clarify some things that we hadn’t been as clear with when we incorporated them, initially.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you.  And then, Ms. Brady, you mentioned that most of the states rely on these guidelines.  Can you break that down a little bit for us?  I mean, we’ve heard that 47 states use this in some way or another.  Do you -- can you tell us how that breaks down amongst the states?
MS. BRADY:



I don’t think I can add anything more than was...

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Okay.

MS. BRADY:



...presented at the last roundtable...

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Okay.

MS. BRADY:



...in terms of the breakdown.  

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Ms. Myers, do you have any info on that?

MS. MYERS:

I do have additional info on it.  I just don’t have it with me here at the table.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Okay, that’s fine.

MS. MYERS:



I can certainly provide it to you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


That’s fine.  If you would, that would be great.

MS. MYERS:

And I know there are a number of different breakdowns out there, but the most current and most recently analyzed one is that there are 47 states that use various types.  So, it’s, some states use the federal certification, and some states use the VVSG within their program, some states use -- require something from a federal test lab.  Other states have used the VVSG.  For example, California adopted 1.1 as their baseline for their California requirements.  I can provide additional documents on that, I just don’t have them with me right now.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
So, it’s safe to say most of the systems in the country are going to be relying on these new guidelines?

MS. MYERS:

In some way or another, yeah...

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

Okay.

MS. MYERS:

...in some way or another.  They may not necessarily require our certification, but they are -- many of them, even if they don’t require our certification or our test lab, are using the standards that we put out, and rely on us to produce those standards to have a base to test their systems from.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Thank you, other questions?  

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I just have...

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Vice-Chair Hicks?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

...a couple of additional questions.  And thank you both for testifying here today and all the work that you’ve done and will be doing.


Ms. Brady, are there any groups that are more active now with this set of standards than they were before in the previous set of standards?  And I want to phrase this as in, basically, were there any groups that are – that have been added to -- that have now taken a more active role, I guess, and I might be answering this my own self, in terms of like manufacturers, where they didn’t previously have input in the comment period but now are taking a more active role?
MS. BRADY:

I do think we see an active role by the manufacturers and, you know, I think that was probably reflected in the number of comments that were received from the manufacturers.  But, we also see it in terms of the test assertions.  So, in that work, when we provided to the manufacturers, we do get a fair number of comments back.  It’s obvious that they’re reviewing them, they’re paying attention to them, and they’re -- if they have an opinion that’s different from what we put out, then it’s an opportunity for them to voice their opinion. 

MS. MYERS:

And also, to follow-up on her statement about the manufacturers paying attention to the test assertions, I can say that I’ve had requests from multiple manufacturers to get the test assertions prior to coming in for test campaigns, so that they have an idea.  And we’ve had a number of some of them that were new systems, some of them that are people that have been through the cycle a couple of times, but just wanted to have them so they could incorporate that into their internal processes already.  So, I know in addition to giving commentary back, they’re also taking those and incorporating them into their testing process, their quality assurance process, and making sure everything is ready before they bring it in to us for certification.

MS. BRADY



And I’d say, you know, with respect to the test assertions, the usability and accessibility test assertions, we did send them out to folks in the community that are usability experts and accessibility experts for their review, as well.  

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

My final question would be, when would this be available on the web?

MS. MYERS:

We do have a little bit of cleanup to do, because I want to review and make sure that all comments that we said we had changed and accepted were, in fact, changed and accepted.  I also want to clean up the formatting a little bit, because once you accept the track changes it makes a mess of some things.  But I anticipate by mid April this will be ready to go up on the website.  
The spreadsheet of how we resolved the comments is also ready to go up on the website, so those documents will be put up together.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Great, thank you both.

MS. BRADY:



You’re welcome.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Anything further Commissioner Masterson?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



No.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you very much for your testimony Ms. Brady and Ms. Myers.  We appreciate all the work that you have put into this, you and your groups.  And -- it’s been a long-time coming.  So, I will now accept a motion with regard to adoption of Voluntary Voting System Guidelines Version 1.1.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, I would move to adopt VVSG 1.1 and the corresponding implementation plan as outlined by the staff at today’s meeting. 
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
So, I have a motion that we adopt the VVSG 1.1 and corresponding implementation plan as recommended by the EAC staff.  Any discussion?  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Yeah, if I may, just briefly.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Masterson.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

In speaking to the motion, I’d like to encourage us to move forward.  I think we are going to move forward.  These are important and critical updates to the standards to improve the level of testing, certification, and in the end, performance of the voting systems to the voters.  And so, I appreciate the staff’s work in moving this forward quickly.  

And I would remind all of us that before we even got to our seats we had letters waiting for us from the National Association of State Election Directors, from the co-chairs of the PCEA, and from the Association of, what is it, ACM encouraging us to adopt this.  And so, I think this is critical.  They gave us a six month timeframe, in their letters, and the fact that you all and we were able to get this done in three months, I think, speaks to the level of importance of this work, and so, I appreciate it.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Hicks?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

The only thing I would add is I, you know, hope that we can move forward today on this, and again, as Commissioner Masterson said, start on the next set.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
So, I just would like to say that I believe these revisions improve the efficiency and the effectiveness of the testing and certification process, and these updates allow us to get to new voting systems or modifications to systems more quickly and out to the election officials who are desperately in need of those updated systems.  The EAC is focusing on what we can do to foster best practices, reduce risks and to engender the confidence of the electorate.  
So, with that, all those in favor say aye.  All those opposed?  
[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


We have adopted the VVSG 1.1. 

[Applause]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Now, we will take up the discussion and adoption of the draft Certification Program Procedural Manual Version 2.0 and discussion and adoption of the draft Laboratory Accreditation Program Manual 2.0.  


We will hear testimony from Mr. Brian Hancock, who is our Testing and Certifications Director at the EAC.  He will provide us testimony regarding updates to the two EAC program manuals that are the basis of the EAC voting system and --Testing and Certification Program.  Welcome Mr. Hancock, thank you so much for being here.
MR. HANCOCK:

Thank you Madam Chair, Commissioners, Executive Director Miller, I appreciate you having me here this morning to talk about the manuals, and hopefully recommend a vote to approve the manuals.

As I noted in my testimony before the Commission on February 24th, 2015, the initial versions of the EAC Certification Program Manual and Voting System Test Laboratory Program Manual were adopted by the Commission on December -- in December of 2006 and July 2008, respectively.  Our experience in working with both manuals, while at the same time working to mature the certification and lab accreditation programs, themselves, have led us to the conclusions that those manuals needed some significant revisions.  
Today I’d like to outline some of the more important substantive changes to these documents and make a recommendation that the Commission then vote to adopt these documents.  Remember that the overall goal of the updates made to these documents was to streamline the process and to make the process quicker and more efficient for the vast majority of stakeholders.

A 60-day substantive public comment period for the Lab Manual opened on April 16th, 2013, and closed June 17th, 2013.  A similar 60-day comment period for Version 2.0 of the Certification Manual opened on November 30th of 2010, and closed on January 31st of 2011.  


Let me talk briefly about the Laboratory Program Manual and some of the major substantive changes.  One of the things that we included quite early on, and we found this to be necessary, was that whenever possible the EAC is going to conduct our required accreditation audit and any follow-up onsite visits to the laboratories at the same time as the NAVLAP accreditation or audit onsite visits.  This change will potentially relieve some of the burden on the lab to prepare for two separate audits in close proximity to one another.  It does take staff time and money for the labs to prepare and we’re hoping that this does relieve their burden somewhat.

We included what we’re calling a Test Readiness Review or TRR.  And this is the mechanism used by the EAC to ensure that tests and evaluation resources are not committed to a voting system that is simply not ready for testing by a Voting System Test Lab.  Over the course of our program, voting systems have been submitted to the EAC VSTLs that appeared to have little or no internal Beta testing, that were missing hardware components, that had incomplete source code and that had incomplete documentation.  These submissions resulted in test campaigns that took years to complete instead of months, resulted in numerous testing discrepancies needing to be resolved and corrected, and cost the voting system manufacturers a significant amount of money.  We feel that the Test Readiness Review will prevent the vast majority of these problems.  The TRR requires an initial review by the Voting System Test Lab which will include: 

System Technical Data Package, which will be reviewed to ensure that all elements required by the VVSG are present.  
The VSTL will review the submitted voting system to ensure that all components required to configure the system, as defined in that system’s technical data package, have been delivered to the VSTL and appear to be operational and in good working order.  Any component not available at the time of this review shall be delivered to the lab by the voting system manufacturer within 30 days of this initial review.  If that does not happen, the testing will be halted and the EAC notified that the system is not ready for testing.  

The VSTL will conduct a preliminary review of no less than one percent of the total lines of code of every software package, module or product submitted for testing in order to ensure that the code is mature and does not contain any systematic non-conformities.  


The system will be tested, if it’s an optical scan system, for its ability to be able to read a fully filled mark.  That might seem like an obvious thing that the system should do but, believe it not, we have had systems that at one point or another could not read a fully filled oval or mark, so we thought that was important.


And finally, a summary of COTS components, and that summary should outline which components of a voting system are COTS products and shall be updated with each test campaign.

The VSTLs are going to be required to use the Virtual Review Tool, or VRT, to identify the standards that apply to systems being tested, to identify the testing to be performed, and to provide other additional information as required.  The EAC developed this secure web-based application to replace the cumbersome XL spreadsheet that we used at the beginning of the program to track the testing of all VVSG requirements.  And believe me, and I think Commissioner Masterson could back me up on this, that it was a chore of immense proportions to deal with that spreadsheet.  So, this has proven already to be a vast improvement to the program.


Acceptance of prior testing, so, testing previously performed on a voting system by a VSTL or by a third party test laboratory operating at the discretion of the test lab may be reused at the discretion of the lab and the EAC.  The EAC encourages VSTLs to use such testing to fulfill certification requirements.  The VSTL must obtain written approval from the EAC for all reuse requests.  In order for the EAC to accept prior testing, lead VSTLs must provide evidence that the following requirements are met.  
And so, we would consider prior testing valid when the discrete software or hardware component of a voting system previously tested is demonstrated to be identical to that presented or offered for testing.  The lead lab, or VSTL, must examine the components and documentation to ensure that there is no major change from what was previously tested.  And the system presented must be subject to regression testing, functional testing, and system integration testing, and any other testing deemed necessary to ensure compliance with the VVSG by that test lab.

I should say that voting system manufacturers have noted that the ability to use prior testing is an important cost and time-saving mechanism.  And we agree with them under the stipulations noted above, and with the review and approval of our Voting System Test Laboratories.

During the public comment period for this manual, we received 22 comments from two separate commenters.  All comments were considered during the EAC staff revision for this document.


Now, I’d like to touch just a little bit on the major substantive changes for the Testing and Certification Program Manual. 
One of the very major changes that we made is the Technology Testing Agreement incorporation.  This section simply copies the requirements described in the EAC’s Notice of Clarification 2014-01, which clarified Section 3224 of the manual, Emerging Technologies, for systems submitted under the extensions clause of the Voluntary Voting System Guidelines.  

So, if a voting system, or component, is eligible for certification under this program, and employs technology not addressed by a currently accepted version of the VVSG, the relevant technology will be subject to full integration testing, and shall be tested to ensure that it operates to the manufacturer’s specifications, and that the proper security risk assessments and quality assurance processes are in place.  The Technology Testing Agreement process is intended to provide additional clarification and guidance to enhance the testing and certification process for voting systems incorporating new or emerging technology.  And, of course, the remainder of that system would be tested to the applicable federal VVSG standards.

The agreement process includes a meeting, or series of meetings between the manufacturer, the Voting System Test Lab and the EAC to exchange information and to move toward a mutual agreement on the testing of the voting system.  Generally, the EAC and the Voting System Test Lab will attempt to incorporate the least burdensome way of testing the product that has a reasonable likelihood of success and ability to reach a determination that the product has met the requirements of the VVSG, the manufacturer’s specifications and any other testable requirements mutually agreed upon.


Another new addition to this manual is the Deficiency Criteria in Section 4.7.3.  The EAC has developed a number of metrics to determine if a voting system, under test by our test lab, should be removed from the EAC’s Testing and Certification Program and returned to the manufacturer for further readiness review, and/or quality assurance testing.  These metrics include:

Testing continuing for more than 18 months without a test report being issued; inactivity as a result of a manufacturer’s decision or lack of action which hinders the reasonable progress of the test campaigns -- of a test campaign that exceeds 90 calendar days; a significant deficiency caused by one or more major architectural flaws requiring significant redesign to adequately eliminate the deficiency; the occurrence of 250 or more unique deficiencies, excluding coding convention deficiencies; a software defect density ratio, which is essentially the number of errors per thousand lines of code; and a maximum number of errors in each of four separate categories labeled fatal, severe, significant and insignificant.  

Test Report Writing, although not necessarily something we assumed needed updating at the beginning, we felt that we needed to add this requirement that all information provided in the test report must be provided in a clear, complete and unambiguous manner, so that a wide range of readers and users of the document will be able to understand the evaluation supporting the systems certification.


Technical Bulletins are also an important addition.  This new requirement that manufacturers provide any technical bulletins or product advisories issued on EAC certified systems to the EAC at the same time that they are issued to jurisdictions impacted by the advisory.  The EAC must receive these advisories via e-mail or postal mail within 24 hours of their issuance.  This provision allows
 -- we feel allows the entire election community to have a transparent avenue to these product advisories.  Generally, in the past those advisories were only sent to the jurisdictions that were specifically affected by that system.  


During the public comment period for this manual, we received 43 comments from three separate commenters.  Like the lab manual, all comments were considered during the EAC staff revision of the document. 


As I noted during my testimony last month, as part of our continuing effort to reduce the paperwork and respondent burden in accordance with the Paperwork Reduction Act, once these documents are approved by the Commission, the EAC will invite the public to a take a 30-day opportunity to comment on the EAC’s request to collect certain information in these revised manuals.  Comments will be invited on: (a) whether the proposed collection of information is necessary for the proper performance of the functions of the agency; (b) the agency’s -- the accuracy of the agency’s estimate of the burden of the proposed information collection; (c) ways to enhance the quality, utility, and clarity of the information to be collected; and (d) ways to minimize the burden of the information collection on respondents.  We will take those comments once they’ve been submitted summarize and include notice in the request for approval of this information collection by the Office of Management and Budget.  This notice will request comments only on the four criteria noted above.  Upon approval by OMB, the EAC manuals will receive their OMB Control numbers which are good for a period of 3 years.


Chair McCormick, Commissioners, the EAC staff now recommends that the Commissioners vote to adopt the Voting System Testing and Certification Manual and Voting System Test Laboratory Program Manual as presented and to cause the Manuals to be published in the Federal Register for a 30 Day Public Comment Period related to the paperwork burden analysis.  Madam Chair, I should also note that this document -- that should this document be adopted today, staff will be ready to post the manuals on the EAC Website tomorrow with the OMB Control Number noted as “Pending.” 


At this point I’d be happy to answer any questions you might have related to either of the two manuals. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you, Mr. Hancock.  Do the Commissioners have any questions?
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

I do have a few questions.  As I was doing my notes last night, I -- and I’m not sure if it was in your section or Ms. Myers’ section -- trying to figure out, there’s one piece on the definition of manufacturer.  And, I guess with my understanding, is that, when we start to look to do component testing down the road that that definition would need to change in terms of what it actually is.  And so, I guess that’s, you know, part of my question of, when we look to adopt the definitions here, today, with the labs and sort of the implementation piece, this doesn’t mean that this is the final piece, and this means that eventually we will have to look to revise this even further. 
MR. HANCOCK:

Certainly, Commissioner, yeah, I mean, part of what we’ve done all along, and hopefully will continue to do, is to update the manuals and the VVSG as well, of course, you know, as emerging technology comes about, as the testing process changes, you know, again, as definitions for various things change.  And I certainly understand what you’re talking about.  If we get to a point where we can actually do component testing, you know, and the IEEE work is approved and incorporated into our standards, it’s likely that election officials will take on a lot of the burden that we would assume manufacturers undertake now, right?  They will be the integrators of the components.  They will have to have the quality assurance processes in place to make everything -- make sure everything works correctly.  So, absolutely, once that happens we will have to update some of the definitions in the document and probably as well as a number of other portions of these documents.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

The other question that I have off-the-bat is the TRR.  My understanding of it, the way that you’re explaining it here, today, is that basically a manufacturer cannot put a system up for testing that’s, basically, not ready.  Therefore, if that system is not ready it’s not, basically, costing a lot more, in terms of testing, and therefore, the -- if you -- if the testing is done when the machine is actually ready to be tested, then that’s going to result in some sort of cost savings.  So, that cost savings will be passed along to the taxpayer, and therefore, make it more effective, in general, in terms of moving it along faster and more cost savings.  

Are there any other cost savings that you can envision from this?

MR. HANCOCK:

Well, we certainly hope that the cost savings would be passed along to the jurisdictions and the taxpayers.  But, really, it’s going to smooth out the process, and hopefully, on the backend, it will get systems of better quality out to election officials and jurisdictions more quickly than we’ve been able to do in the past.  So, I think, all and all, that’s really, you know, the important thing related to our program. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Chair Masterson, do you have anything?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, thank you, Mr. Hancock.  And I don’t know if you can even say this, but this is perhaps the less sexy of the two compared to VVSG.  Maybe only in my world, though.

But, there’s so much good here that I want to go through, but I’ll try to limit my questions.  First was, Commissioner Hicks touched on the readiness for testing review, and I know from my time here, the impact of having systems that weren’t ready.  Can you share, kind of, the good, the bad and the ugly of what you’ve experienced?  So, a system that wasn’t ready, what did you see; how many anomalies, how long did it take?  And then, a system that was ready for testing, how many anomalies and how long did that take, in general?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, let’s go with the good first, just because it’s a little better and I think it’s the...

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Always the optimist, always the optimist. 

MR. HANCOCK:

...direction that we’re headed too, it really is.  You know, recently, I would say over the past two, three, maybe even four years, we’ve actually seen the vast majority of systems that we get in are much more ready for testing, and they do, generally, meet or at least get much closer to the timelines that we’ve outlined for years, right?  So, that’s a year to 18 months for a new system, depending on the complexity threeish -- three to six months for a modification.  That was not always the case, as you well know.  When the program began it was not uncommon for new systems to take 18 months to two years, or more.  Simply, first of all, the program was new, you know, this was a new process for everyone.  It took a little bit longer.  But very much a truism is that the systems weren’t always ready for testing.  And that, as I mentioned, would result, not only in extra time, but it would result, literally, in thousands of discrepancies that, you know, wouldn’t necessarily have been there if there had been a little more upfront testing, Beta testing, on the manufacturer’s part, which we’re seeing now.  We definitely are seeing that and I think that’s already, you know, been an improvement in the program.  So, yeah, you’re very correct on that.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

On the EAC response timeframe, Section 1.12, there’s -- you know you all added a sentence that says, essentially, that the EAC is going to be publicly accountable to their response timeframes and meeting their timeframes.  Can you talk a little bit about why that was added and what your goal in doing that was? 

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, well, it’s always good to have metrics for any program, to let you know what you’re doing well, and what you’re not doing well, where you need improvements.  It will answer some of the critics, hopefully, you know, that say that our process takes too long or is too cumbersome.  And we started doing that, in some respects, several years ago, by putting up timelines for voting systems, for new voting systems that we were testing.  And these timelines sort of in linear fashion took one through the process, you know, from application to test report approval, and it showed the time that it took for, you know, the EAC to do our role, our different jobs, the test lab to do their work, and the manufacturer to respond in various fashions.  That proved to be fairly successful, and so, we thought that we would actually put those metrics in the manuals, themselves. 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

And so, all of this these timeframes, this information, will be posted on the Website, is that correct...

MR. HANCOCK:



Um-hum.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

…so that everyone can be held accountable from the manufacturers to you all so that, you know, sort of, the record can be clear?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, yeah, and those timelines are currently available on the website.  So, they’ve been up there for some time.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Technical bulletins, you mentioned in your briefing the receipt of technical bulletins from manufacturers within 24 hours of issuance.  What’s the plan to receive, and then, perhaps more importantly, disseminate and post those?

MR. HANCOCK:

Right, yeah, we do have a plan.  And, in fact, those -- the ones that we have gotten in the past are posted.  They’re on the quality monitoring portion of the EAC’s website, and that goes by manufacturer.  It breaks it down via manufacturer and individual system.  When we get those advisories on a particular system, they are posted up here.  We’ll continue to do that and to add new systems, obviously, as we get them and certify them.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Is there a plan, to the extent that we can -- I know we have a map on our website of jurisdictions that have EAC certified systems -- is there a plan, to the extent we get a technical bulletin about an EAC certified system, to reach out to those jurisdictions in one way or another to ensure that they received it and offer any kind of assistance we can provide in dealing with that bulletin?

MR. HANCOCK:

Yeah, we can certainly do that.  And perhaps that’s something that we want, or would like to, at least, get the recommendations from our Boards on that as to how best to go ahead and do that, right?  Because we’re going to have local and state election officials on that Board, and it might be interesting to see, you know, how they would like to receive the information, and perhaps, if they can, you know, assist us with getting more information more timely and correct information on who we should send those to, because, as you know, especially with local election officials, those names and faces change quite often and it’s sometimes tough to keep up. 
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, I could tell you, and it’s no surprise to you because you’ve been dealing with it, but in dealing with these challenges in Ohio, having that information, but then, having a follow-up on it to say, here’s what this means to you, and sort of, how to work with the manufacturer in a positive way to get the problem solved is huge for the local election officials.  And so, I was very glad to see that in the manual and that improvement.

One final one is on the TTA and the Extensions Clause.  I know you’ve heard it for years that the EAC can’t test new and innovative systems.  Untrue, right, and at this point the Extensions Clause addresses that.  Is that correct? 

MR. HANCOCK:

Absolutely, and I think that’s what it was always meant to address.  It’s just until recently no one has taken advantage of that, and frankly, until recently, you know, the systems that we were seeing sort of fell under the definition of traditional voting system, you know, whatever that might mean, and so, we really didn’t need to use that clause up until fairly recently.


That said, we are constantly being contacted now by voting system manufacturers that are non-traditional that, you know, have new systems and are, if nothing else, at least looking for information about the process and how they might, you know, get their products into the process.  
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

So, if I can just follow up on that.  The combination of this section in the manual with the improvements to 1.1, impactful for those new and innovative systems in the testing, you know, important -- you know, can you speak to kind of how those two mesh up to allow for those systems to get in and get tested?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, sure, certainly, some of the changes in -- that are in 1.1 will obviate the need for some, not all, but some of the discussion that we might have with non-traditional voting system manufacturers about coding conventions and things of that nature, you know.  There will still be things that we’ll need to have discussions on.  Even version 2.0 probably wouldn’t necessarily cover all conceivable instances of getting an emerging technology system in-house, and I don’t necessarily see any standard ever covering one hundred percent of the instances.  So, those meetings and discussions will still be important moving forward.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

And then, finally, I promise this is my last one -- do you have three hours? 
[Laughter]

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Can we just -- because I have you trapped here, can you comment on the efficiencies, and the need for consistency in testing, that the test suites, that Ms. Brady spoke about, and the importance to the program, moving forward, of that effort?

MR. HANCOCK:

Yeah, it’s very important, and I think Mary spoke very eloquently about it.  But the key is to have consistency and for the manufacturers to know that, you know, if they choose to move from one test lab to another that their system will be tested in a very similar fashion, and so, then one would hope they would get very similar results as they move from manufacturer to manufacturer, you know.  And they should be able to get those results for themselves, internally, once they’re given these test suites, or test assertions, that they kind of work through and make sure that they’re going to get the correct results.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Which, in turn, would make them more ready for testing and fare well in the readiness for testing area. 

MR. HANCOCK:



Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I’m done, thank you. 

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Commissioner Masterson, just a couple of questions.  Do you intend to have a meeting with the, now, three accredited Voting System Test Laboratories on the updates to the lab manual? 

MR. HANCOCK:

Yes Ma’am Chair, we do.  It’s always important to let them know of the changes in manuals whenever we make that.  Right now, we are tentatively trying to schedule a meeting with the laboratories May 21st directly after the state certification meeting in Seattle, Washington.  They will all be at that location, as will our staff, and so, it will be, hopefully, a fairly efficient process just to remain one extra day to have that meeting with the labs.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Okay.  And can you explain how our EAC certification process interfaces or interacts with the states, since we know every state requires their own certification before a voting system can be implemented?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, and that’s -- you know, a mention of the state certification meeting is a nice segue to that question.  At the very beginning of our program, I would say that, you know, it was a little bit of a sort of insular mentality here, but we very quickly saw that it was not an efficient way or an efficient model to do things.  Since that time we’ve been reaching out to any number of states through the quality monitoring process that Commissioner Masterson spoke of.  We worked directly with Cuyahoga County when there was a situation there.  We’ve worked very closely with a lot of the folks that do the state testing, because they are the ones that are most interested, at least initially, in the work that’s done here at the EAC.  So, we’ve work with numerous states, you know.  We’ve work with Georgia and California and Indiana and a number of states, other states, New York, to get to those people that are actually doing the testing and make sure we have a working relationship, where if they have a question they feel very comfortable talking to us and calling us, and vice versa, for that matter.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
And one final question.  Could you just tell me what the two or three most significant barriers or delays are getting the systems tested and certified?

MR. HANCOCK:

Well, I think – yeah, I mean, I think in the past those, and hopefully they’ll be addressed through the Test Readiness Review, TDP problems, and that continues to be a little bit of an issue.  That might be something that both the EAC and...

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



TDP can you explain...
MR. HANCOCK:

Technical Data Package.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah. 

MR. HANCOCK:

Technical Data Package, which can, depending on the complexity of the system, run to documents in the thousands of pages.  It might be something we want to work with the TGDC and NIST on for that next iteration of the VVSG, to kind of simplify that process to get it to where it’s more manageable, and hopefully, easier for everyone to manage.  So, documentation, and I would say, source code that’s ready, that’s always an issue.  There’s -- with almost every manufacturer there’s numerous back and forth as the test labs look at the code.  

So, those are two of the main items.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Okay.  And I just wanted to follow-up real quickly on an answer that you gave to Commissioner Hicks.  You mentioned the IEEE process.  Can you just -- I know that that’s not something we’re working on – I mean, we’re involved with it, but not working on it directly.  Can you just explain what you mean by that?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, yeah, the IEEE is working on a number of voting projects, but one of their most important ones is Common Data Format work.  That Common Data Format is going to assist elections, in general, in a number of ways.  But initially, the work was undertaken to begin to move towards the idea of component testing, so that the various components of voting systems will be able to use a common dataset to be able to talk to each other, and hopefully, someday work in a more plug-and-play fashion than they can right now.  So, NIST is leading that charge.  John Wack at NIST has done an excellent job with that committee, and Megan Dillon, on our staff, is also a permanent member of that committee.  So, we’re monitoring their work very carefully.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Thank you, any other questions from the Commissioners?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:
I just have one final question.  Under the Compliance Management Program section in the Lab Manual, Section 4.5 contains new requirements for proficiency testing for our VSTLs. 

MR. HANCOCK:

Um-hum. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Can you explain the proficiency testing and why it might be important for us?

MR. HANCOCK:

Sure, thank you Commissioner.  Proficiency testing is actually a very common requirement.  It’s a requirement of the ISO 17025 Laboratory Accreditation Program Manual.  It’s used very commonly in other industries.  And essentially, what is it is, it’s kind of what it sounds like it, it’s a test conducted by a party for labs accredited in any field.  For example, if we wanted to test our VSTLs on source code review, an organization, either a third party or the EAC, would provide, you know, a test, a written – literally, a written test in source code review, have the labs do that test, then, look at the results and compare and contrast the results from the laboratories, and see, you know, to make sure they were all, basically, getting the same results for the requirements, and see if any of them were lacking in any areas.  And that’s just another mechanism for the laboratories to be able to improve their processes, you know.  If that proficiency testing shows they’re lacking, you know, it’s something their folks can get additional training on, or whatever else they might need.
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Anything else?  Thank you, and now I’ll take a motion on the adoption of the program manuals.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, thank you Madam Chair.  I would move to adopt the Voting System Testing and Certification Program Manual and Voting System Test Laboratory Program Manual, as presented, and to cause the manuals to be published in the Federal Register for a 30-day public comment period related to the paperwork burden analysis, as presented by Mr. Hancock.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Do I have a second?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



I second that motion.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you.  So, I have a motion to adopt the Voting System Testing and Certification Program Manual and Voting System Test Laboratory Accreditation Manual as presented, and to cause the manuals to be published in the Federal Register for a 30-day public comment period.  Any discussion?  
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



No.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Yes, Madam Chair, just briefly, if I may…
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Masterson? 

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

...to speak to the motion.  The changes and improvements made to the laboratory and certification program manuals presented today are focused on two important aspects; to create efficiencies in the program and to make the program more affordable, while allowing for the same level of rigor of testing.  Items like the Readiness for Testing Review, the reuse of testing, and the TTA review, encourage innovation, not stifle it, and allow for quick and efficient testing.  And I would note, as we were preparing for this meeting I went on the website and looked at, kind of, our timing and efficiency in testing.  The fastest modification to go through our program was 12 days, 12 days to get a modification through.  And frequently modifications take less than a month.  And so, Brian, you and your staff are to be commended for the work you’ve already done to create efficiencies and to save money.  And this additional work, in both the manuals, takes it a step further and encourages that kind of innovation, so thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you, anything else?  Thank you, Mr. Hancock.  We want to express our appreciation to you and to your staff for preparing this for us today.  We know it’s been a long time coming and we will now take a vote.


All those in favor of approving these manuals say aye.  All opposed?
[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Hearing no opposed, the manuals are approved.  

MR. HANCOCK:



Thank you.  

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
So, now we will discuss and take up approval of Advisory Opinion requests to the expenditure of HAVA funds from state and local election offices.  


We will now hear from Monica Holman Evans, who is the Director of Grants Management at the Election Assistance Commission.  She will now brief the Commission on some of the outstanding Advisory Opinion requests.  Ms. Evans?

MS. EVANS:

Thank you and good morning.  First, Chairwoman McCormick, Vice-Chair Hicks, Commissioner Masterson, and Mrs. Miller, I just want to thank you for putting me on the agenda and allowing me to come before you today.  I will be discussing the Advisory Opinion process, and due to lack of a quorum, we have several opinions that are pending.  And also I’d like to thank you for your flexibility to consider these in this type of forum.  I do believe this is the first time that multiple Advisory Opinion requests have been considered in this manner, and thank you for your flexibility in allowing us to bring these before you today.

The Advisory Opinion process essentially looks at appropriateness of expenditures and activities under HAVA.  And with the Advisory Opinion process that is in place our Commissioners make those determinations based on recommendations from the Office of Grants Management.  And so, today the question for consideration will essentially be, may Help America Vote Act Section 251 or 101 funds be used to make Americans with Disabilities Act improvements to voting places, building improvements to an election center and equipment purchases to improve the administration of federal elections as described in the questions I will present to you in just a moment.  

Essentially, the Office of Grants Management has the responsibility of applying OMB circulars to decisions around funding, and those circulars are on administrative requirements and also cost principles that have been laid out by OMB.  And, it is our charge to ensure that expenditures are allowable, allocable and reasonable.  And essentially, Section 251 funds, under HAVA, can be used in three primary ways: 
One, to comply with the requirements of Title III of HAVA.  And, once a state certifies that it is Title III compliant they can carry out other activities to improve the administration of federal elections.  And then, finally, a state may use its minimum payment amount applicable to the state for improvements to the administration of federal elections.  

And then, HAVA Section 101 funds may be used to improve the administration of federal elections more generally.


I have eight pending Advisory Opinions I would like to present to you today.  
The first comes from Pennsylvania.  May Clearfield County use $5,000 of Section 251 funds to pay the handicap access and handicap parking to one of its polling places? 
Also, from Pennsylvania, may Philadelphia County use $581,007 of Section 251 funds to make ADA compliant modifications to entrances to 14 buildings owned by the City of Philadelphia?  
Again, from Pennsylvania, may Mercer County use HAVA 
funds for ten projects from $906 ranging up to $3,619 to make polling places compliant with the ADA accessibility requirements?  

Again, from Pennsylvania, may Clearfield County use $1,500 of Section 251 funds to alter building doorways and floors to improve access for the handicapped?  
From Montana, may Dawson County use $3,250 of HAVA Section 101 funds to construct a concrete accessibility ramp, install handrails and improve the surface of the existing accessible parking pad?  
From the State of Washington, may Walla Walla County use $87,772 in Section 251 funds to pay for improvements to its election center?  
From Puerto Rico, may Puerto Rico use HAVA funds to purchase three vehicles and computer equipment for mobile voter registration, telephone system, and a copy machine to reproduce election manuals and voter information?  And finally, from California, may Section 251 funds be used to purchase vote-by-mail envelope processing equipment?

And, in regards to these questions, we find that EAC has approved similar expenditures in previous funding advisory opinions, and we would like you to consider approving these expenditures, subject to final due diligence and concurrence from the EAC Grants Office.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you, Ms. Evans.  Any questions from the Commissioners for Ms. Evans?

 VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Yes, I have a few questions.  It’s the staff -- it’s your recommendations that we approve all eight of these today because there are similar ones that have already been approved in the past when there were quorums that the Commission had.  Is that correct?

MS. EVANS:

That is correct and they also meet the requirements that have been spelled out in OMB circulars for approval, as well.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

You mentioned in your testimony that this is the first time that the Commission has approved Advisory Opinions in this manner.  What was the previous way that the Advisory Opinions were approved? 

MS. EVANS:

Essentially, there’s a four-step process.  Questions are submitted by outside entities, generally, a state elections office, and once we receive those questions, then we post those questions on the EAC website for comment.  Then the EAC Grants Office will take any comments, do an analysis and provide a briefing paper, as well as a recommendation that goes to Commissioners.  And then, Commissioners will deliberate based on the analysis and briefing paper provided by the Grants Office and make a determination. 
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

So, if we approve these Advisory Opinions today, how long will it take for the states to actually receive their HAVA funds?

MS. EVANS:

It could be immediately, in some instances.  It may take a few days, in other instances.  Some of these Advisory Opinions have been pending for up to five years, and so, we’ve had a change in staff, and then there may have been a change in circumstances since these opinions were submitted.  And so, we will begin the process immediately, and it just depends on the responsiveness of the states. 

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

So, I guess my last question would be, so these changes have already taken place but...

MS. EVANS:



They may have.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:



May have.

MS. EVANS:



Yes.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

Then, they were just looking to be reimbursed through HAVA funds for the cost of those changes?

MS. EVANS:



Essentially, yes.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:


Okay.  That’s my final question.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Commissioner Masterson, do you have questions?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, just a couple.  Ms. Evans, thank you for being here and briefing us on this.  I can say, from being in a state and using both HHS and HAVA funds for permanent improvements for ADA accessibility, that this is critical work and so I appreciate it.


You mentioned that these have been pending for several years.  Can you speak to the timeframe of some of these and how long it’s been and why?

MS. EVANS:

Absolutely, some of these questions were posed as early as 2008.  The most recent question was posed to the Commission in 2013.  And, as you know, we lost our quorum of Commissioners in December of 2010.  And so, that is in large part why these have been pending for so long.  
And also, I think some of them probably have been pending due to the nature of the questions that have been asked.  I could only imagine, given the responsibilities of Commissioners and the important matters before them, deciding on duplicative questions that have been posed may not be on the highest priority list when you have a lot of policy determinations to make.
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Yeah, I could tell you that getting money out to the states, though, is -- I mean, that’s -- they like that, right?  

MS. EVANS:



Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Some of the other stuff we do, perhaps not.

MS. EVANS:



Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Can you speak to -- just because of those timeframes, some of the challenges that the Advisory Opinion process poses to you, as a staff, and to the states and locals, as we move forward and look at this process?

MS. EVANS:

Absolutely, and we actually have some states who have sent e-mails, et cetera, just talking about the cumbersome nature of the process.  One, the process can take a lot of time.  There’s a 30-day public comment period.  
You have to prepare a briefing paper, analysis.  A lot of times you’re doing that based on information that has already been gathered, and you have to do a whole new analysis, briefing paper, that has previously been presented.  Also, there are a lot of duplicative requests, and so, you’ve decided an issue, and then, we’re having to go through a similar process to have you decide the exact same issue for another state.  And that is, basically, the way the advisory opinion process policy was written.

And then, finally, I think it brings Commissioners into the role of having to deal with some rather mundane grants management questions that are typically resolved by a federal grants office.  And so, I think all of that adds to the timing.  And, as you said, states want to get money, use their money as soon as possible, and I think our process has prevented us from getting money to states in the most timely fashion.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

So, given that, I think that’s great feedback, will you prepare for us, and I think we need to have a discussion on ways we can improve the process, you know, just as we did with Mr. Hancock and his process, to create efficiencies, time savings, and be responsive to our customers?
MS. EVANS:

Absolutely, I have some recommendations and I would love the opportunity to meet with you to discuss those recommendations.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Thank you.

MS. EVANS:



Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
So, I just have a couple of questions.  Is it possible to divide these opinions into categories?

MS. EVANS:

Absolutely, I think there are really two categories.  One would be those requests that have policy implications, and then, those that are really just addressing the expenditure of HAVA funds.  And, for the most part, I think the majority of the requests we receive are in the latter category, and really addressing the expenditure of HAVA funds.
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Can you just provide me some background on those two categories and how we’ve dealt with them previously?

MS. EVANS:

Sure, I can provide you with a few examples, and these are decisions that were previously decided by the Commission.  One, Commissioners found that HAVA funds under Section 101 and 251 cannot be used to print, copy, or revise state voter registration forms.  And essentially, this was a function that had been carried out by states before HAVA was passed, and so, this was not an activity that was anticipated or sanctioned by HAVA.  Section 101 funds may be used at anytime to instruct individuals on how to register to vote.  Commissioners also found that HAVA funds, under Section 101 and 251, cannot be used to conduct voter registration drives or any get-out-the vote activities.  And then, Commissioners also found that the purchase of items such as copy machines, warehouse security upgrades, vans to transport equipment, ballot counters and e-poll books are allowable under Sections 101 and 251 of HAVA. 
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you.  So, can you say that then today you’re recommending just to continue the precedent that previous Commissioners had established with...

MS. EVANS:

I am.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

...regards to these items? 

MS. EVANS:



I am.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you, any further questions? 
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

No.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

I have -- can I have a motion on accepting the Advisory Opinions as presented by Ms. Evans? 
VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

I move that we accept and adopt the staff recommendations regarding the eight Advisory Opinions.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



I second.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
I have a motion and a second to accept and adopt the staff recommendations regarding the nine Advisory Opinions as outlined.  Any discussion?
COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

No.

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

No.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:

No?  Thank you Ms. Evans, we appreciate all your work on this and we look forward to hearing your recommendations for reviewing the policy as it stands now, so that we can create some time efficiency and cost efficiencies for both the staff and the states.
MS. EVANS:



Absolutely, thank you very much.  
CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thanks.  All those in favor of adopting the Advisory Opinions that have been recommended by staff, say aye.  Any opposed?

[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
The nine Advisory -- excuse me, eight Advisory Opinions are approved, thank you.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

And please, let Puerto Rico know that they can submit their Standards Boards members to us as we communicate with them.  That would be great, thank you.

MS. EVANS:



Will do, thank you.
[Laughter]

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:


Do we have any closing remarks from Commissioners at this time?

VICE-CHAIR HICKS:

I have a couple of quick remarks.  I wanted to basically -- we started off in January with a mandate, basically, to move quickly, and I think that we are moving along pretty quickly, as was acknowledged on Friday by the White House, with the Bipartisan Policy Center remarks that we had.


And also, I wanted to basically say that I would be remiss not to acknowledge some of the barriers that have come before us, and that we are basically knocking down, with the moving forward with the VVSG guidelines and the testing manuals, and moving grant money back out to the states.  
I wanted to look back to -- all three of my children weren’t able to make it here today, but looking back to December of 2013 when I had m second confirmation hearing for this post, and looking back at that film where my son, who was four at the time, was sitting behind me, basically using an iPhone, to do whatever, you know, play games or communicate with his sisters and friends, and that as we move forward with consideration of the next VVSG standards, to take into account that technology is changing, and will continue to change, and that children are not -- who are going to expect to be moving forward with that technology, as well.  As I think back, to just phones in general, to when I would go to my grandparent’s houses to call my parents, as they were up in Boston and I was down in Georgia, that we had a landline, and how technology has changed that, you know, now we have cordless phones and mobile phones, and technology is going to be changing to a point where we are going to be voting and moving forward with using that technology, to vote more efficiently and in different manners.  And the EAC will be there to provide the standards for that sort of technology.  

And I want to thank both of you for working with me to -- on these guidelines and moving forward with it.  And I yield back.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Commissioner Hicks.  Commissioner Masterson, do you have any comments?

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:

Thank you Madam Chair, and just very briefly, today marks an important step forward for the Election Assistance Commission, voting technology, and honestly, for the voters.  The steps we took today to modernize the process and improve the standards will lead to better voting systems and better voting technology to be fielded across the jurisdictions.  As we heard today during testimony and have heard during our listening tour, states rely and depend on our program, whether it’s the standards, the laboratories or the certification itself.  And so, the improvements that were made today and move the process forward for 47 out of those 50 states is important and, frankly, critical, as they look to modernize the old and aging voting equipment.  And so, I’m proud of the work we’ve done.  I’m proud of the work of the staff to have this ready.  And I thank those who reached out to us and pushed us forward to get this done quickly.  But this is only the beginning.  We must continue to push forward to improve and to get better in all aspects of the agency. And I know the three of us and the staff are committed to doing that.  So, I appreciate what we got done today.  As I told Ms. Myers, we’ll savor it for today, and tomorrow we start on new sets of standards and new processes to improve the agency.  

Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN McCORMICK:
Thank you Commissioner Masterson.  I’ll just echo your sentiments.  I also appreciate all the work that’s gone into this, and that we are finally moving forward today to starting on working on better voting system guidelines, and trying to get up to election speed, if not technology speed.


So, thank you to all.  And I appreciate all those who are watching via webcast.  And the meeting is adjourned, thank you.

COMMISSIONER MASTERSON:



Thank you.

***

[The public meeting of the EAC adjourned at 11:44 a.m.]
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